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Relating to transportation and disposition upon death; to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: 

Chairman Weisz: Called the committee to order 
Attendance taken 

Chairman Weisz: Opened the hearing on HB 1294 
Is there any testimony in support of HB 1294? 

Representative Kiefert: Introduced HB 1294 
1 :05(Attachment 1) 

Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? 

1, 2, 3 

Representative McWilliams: In section 2 of this bill it mentions alkaline hydrolysis as the final 
disposition of the body. Does this bill allow for alkaline hydrolysis as well as the other 
elements of it? 

Representative Kiefert: Yes, it would. 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1294? 

Jeff Brose, ND State Board of Funeral Services. He also owns a funeral home in Mohall 
3: 12(Attachment 2) 
We have proposed that several changes be made and much of it is updating the terminology. 
We would appreciate a do pass. 
14:21 
Chairman Weisz: Are there any questions from the committee? 
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Representative Seibel: On page 4 section 8. If parental rights have been terminated and the 
child dies, what happens? 

J. Brose: I will let the attorney answer that. 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: About the death in Fargo and the body is being transferred to Minnesota 
for alkaline hydrolysis. Tell me again how that would work. 

J. Brose: If the deceased died at Sanford in Fargo, it is a ND death. The towns just inside of 
Minnesota are also licensed over here. The death certificate is actually filed here in ND and 
on the death certificate where it says method of disposition it is either cremation, burial, 
donation to a school of medicine, one of the options is removal from state. That means they 
are going out of the state. Then over in Minnesota if that family opts to have alkaline 
hydrolysis, on the death certificate where it says place of disposition it will list an alkaline 
hydrolysis facility. 

Chairman Weisz: So initially it will say removal from state, but at the final disposition it gets 
changed to say what that was? 

J. Brose: The place of disposition would say something different. If the person was removed 

• 

from the state and then the family decided to have alkaline hydrolysis the death certificate • 
would say removal from state and the place of disposition would list an alkaline hydrolysis 
facility. 

Representative Skroch: Explain the difference between cremation and how that is applied to 
a body verses alkaline hydrolysis? 

J. Brose: It is like a large chamber that the body is put in. There is a liquid in there that 
circulates around in there and it disintegrates what is there down to the bones that are left. 
It is like a flameless cremation . 

Representative Skroch: Where does the liquid go? 

J. Brose: I will have to research it more. 

Chairman Weisz: Someone will answer that later. 

J. Brose: We put this in here just in case this would come up and someone would apply for 
a license to do it. We don't have a proposal to license such a proposal in our state and 
thought we would be proactive. 

Representative Porter: Going back and forth across state lines is there somewhere in your 
section of the code that allows for an unembalmed body to cross state lines if it is a 
neighboring state? How does that process work? • 
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J. Brose: I don't think there is any law on our books that says you have to be embalmed in 
those situations. To cross state lines like that. 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions? 

Rep. Nathe; (No written testimony) 
I want to stand in support of HB 1294. I think the Department of Human Services did a good 
job. They worked hard on it. 
20:51 
I wanted to speak in regard to section 22 and the alkaline hydrolysis question in there. I do 
think it is a good move to put it in there as proactive. Is there a big demand for this service 
in ND? No, it has been in our business for the last 3 - 5 years. Actually a good friend of mine 
who worked at Rochester Mayo Health developed this alkaline hydrolysis process. He is 
now at the UCLA Medical School and has it out there. He also works for a company that is 
manufacturing these and selling them around the country. They are about $350,000 a unit. 
When this first came up, we struggled with it a little bit and the term flameless cremation is 
about as close as we got to it. Reason being, when it goes through the process there is 
water involved, there are different chemicals. The body is placed in there. It is under 
pressure with water and the chemicals. In a kind of crude way, think of it like a dishwasher. 
The body is in there, there is water, there are chemicals. It works for about an hour or ninety 
minutes and when it is done, what is left is just the skeletal system. No different than when 
we cremate a body. All that is left after cremation is just the skeletal system. Alkaline 
hydrolysis is no different except they are not using flames, but chemicals. The water is 
neutral. The water is very safe to put down the drain. It just goes right down the city sewer 
Quite frankly it is probably safer that what hospitals put down there. There are no byproducts. 
That has been the attraction for people, especially in the big metropolitan areas where this 
is at. This is very environmentally friendly. There is no carbon footprint. That has been the 
attraction for people. No one has requested that, but the committee that did this is being 
proactive. 
23:06 
Representative Skroch: So you go through this process. The remains of the deceased is 
swirling around in this liquid form? 

Rep. Nathe: It is laid on a tray and it stays there until it is done. It is pressure, water, and 
chemicals are working on the body. So when it is done, only the skeletal remains are left on 
the tray or bed they were on and remove, put into a machine that refines the cremains down 
to the fine powder that we can put in different urns. That process is no different than what we 
do right now for cremation. 

Representative Skroch: How do you purify that liquid that has gone through this process? 
How do you know that there are no parts of the body in the water that would enter into the 
public water system? 

Rep. Nathe: The chemical gets rid of all of that. The water that was very toxic in the beginning 
is now PH neutral. It has done it' job and at the end of the day it is neutral. 

Chairman Weisz: Maybe you should explain the process of cremation. 
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Rep. Nathe: Yes, cremation works the same way. Once we get all the permissions signed, 
the body is placed in the crematory again it just sits there like it does in hydrolysis. We set 
the dials. The cremation itself takes about 2 hours. It depends on the size of the person. 
When it is done, again what is left over is the skeletal system. Just the bones. Everything 
else has been consumed by the cremation just like alkaline hydrolysis would do. When we 
are done, the bones are all swept out, put into a container that is then put into a machine that 
refines those cremated remains into a fine powder. 

Chairman Weisz: So in other words it either goes up in the air or down the drain? 

Rep. Nathe: Exactly and that is why it is environmentally friendly. 

Chairman Weisz: I am still confused about crossing the state lines. If I move the body from 
Fargo to Minnesota, then the permit is going to say removing from the state. That is on the 
death certificate or on the permit? 

Rep. Nathe: It is on the death certificate or really on both. 

Chairman Weisz: Ok, but they don't say how they are going to dispose of the body. 

Rep. Nathe: There is an area for disposition, so if you think about it. I am a crematory so I 
do a lot of the cremations for many of the funeral homes in western ND. They bring a case 
to me, I will cremate for them and sent it back, but on their death certificate it has my funeral • 
home name as the place of disposition. There are two kinds of disposition. One is burial 
and the other one is cremation. So if we go across the state line to have alkaline hydrolysis 
done in Fergus Falls. On the line of disposition, it would say Fergus Falls Funeral Home. 
That is where the disposition took place. The removal part is on a different part of the death 
certificate. 

Representative McWilliams: If we take alkaline hydrolysis out of the bill , would that mean that 
it cannot be listed on the death certificate or would it simply go under other? 

Rep. Nathe: I think it would go under other, but I will let the state answer. 

Representative McWilliams: My other question is, do you think that flushing grandma down 
the drain is a respectful way to dispose of a loved one? 

Rep. Nathe: Quite frankly it is not any different than cremation. 

Representative McWilliams: I differ with this statement. I think it is different and disrespectful 
for the person that died. 

Rep. Nathe: That is the same reaction and argument that we heard in regard to cremation 
for 30 or 40 years. Cremation was extremely unpopular with everyone. Now almost 50% of 
the people in America are being cremated. 
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Representative D. Anderson: In Minnesota you could put the water in a garden too so it is 
not toxic. 

Rep. Nathe: They have looked at this from every angle and there is no toxicity whatsoever. 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support of HB 1294? 

A funeral director from Rugby shared that he wanted to clear up a few questions. 

Embalming and crossing state lines. If you have a body and you want to take him across the 
state lines and you have a burial permit and if you can get them there in 48 hours you can 
put the body in your car and take him. That is what ND law says. If refrigeration is available 
then it is 72 hours. 
Many have changed their profession and we think they shouldn't have gone into this in the 
beginning, because they didn't know what they were getting into. When I was thinking about 
going into this field, I did an internship before I went to mortuary school. What we are 
proposing now is one year of college and during that first year of college you may serve 6 
months of internship before you go to mortuary school. At that time if you like what you are 
doing and find it fulfilling, then you will spend the time and money and go to mortuary school , 
complete your second year of school and graduate from mortuary school. Then you can 
complete the rest of your internship. That is where that changed . To allow that. 
Alkaline Hydrolysis. Very new and I think there are two places in Minnesota. It is green and 
that is what makes it popular. ND law says you can 't just bury a body anywhere. It has to be 
in a registered cemetery. If you wanted to bury Grandpa on your farm, you can do that, but 
you have to have your farm surveyed and registered with the state. The state department 
wants to know where dead bodies are. If you then sold your farm and someone buys that 
land he doesn't want to have someone else's Grandpa buried on his farm . That is the reason. 
ND allows you to do whatever with the cremation remains and the same would apply to the 
remains from alkaline hydrolysis. 

Chairman Weisz: I have a question? Currently for an intern what is the practice? They go 
to mortuary school and then intern? 

Right now to become an intern embalmer you need to have years of college, graduate from 
mortuary school, pass the national exam. So what we are doing is allowing them to do a six
month internship in the first year of college. 

Chairman Weisz: But the language here says they would intern for one year and then go to 
mortuary school and finish their internship. That is not clear in this language. That would 
have to be defined. 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions from the committee? 

Chairman Weisz: Further testimony in support? 
Is there any opposition to HB 1294? 

Christopher Dodson, Exe. Director ND Catholic Conference. 
(Attachment 3) 

-------------- - - - -



House Human Services Committee 
HB 1294 
1/24/17 
Page 6 

39:50 
Chairman Weisz: Questions from the committee? 

Further testimony in opposition to HB 1294? Seeing none, thank you . 

Neutral testimony on HB 1294 

Darin Mishke: Director of Division of Vital Reconds 
If a body is removed from the state, like taken to Fergus Falls to have a process done, the 
death record in the permit would show the final disposition as removal from state. It would 
not be updated later to show that alkaline hydrolysis has been done. If the hydrolysis is left 
in the definition like it is, it is kind of a proactive thing so that if someone wanted to be licensed 
for this it would already be in the law. If that was done in the state, we would be able to 
choose that as a type of disposition rather than listing it as other. 

Chairman Weisz: Are there questions from the committee? 

Representative Skroch: I am sure that you have seen situations where the family chose 
cremation and one of the options that the family uses id to go up in an airplane and drop 
ashes. Those of us that are still living on the ground might experience the ash on our person 
and that might be a concern of mine. I don't feel that it is dignified . Then I go to this process • 
of alkaline hydrolysis and while it may be neutral , those particles have to go somewhere or 
they are captured somewhere and is it a concern of yours that human remains would enter 
into the public water? 

D. Mishke: In my duties as the State Registrar and the Director of the Vital Records Divison 
I don't oversee anything environmental from a cremation that is spread or anything that would 
relate to this new process. The health department I think would be neutral on what you are 
suggesting. I don't know that the cremation part of it is listed as the final disposition and what 
the family then does is not recorded . We never track what is actually done with those. So I 
would not be able to answer your question as to the environmental impact. 

Chairman Weisz: Further questions from the committee.? 
Seeing none, we will close the hearing on HB 1294 

• 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to transportation and disposition upon death; and to provide penalty 

Minutes: 

Chairman Weisz: called the committee to order. 
Discussion on HB 1294 

Representative Seibel: I don't want to lose this bill over alkaline hydrolysis, because what 
this is is enabling language for the board if someone would come in. They could license 
through this an alkaline hydrolysis facility. Rep. Nathe was correct when cremation was 
growing in the state, these were the exact same arguments we heard then. Cremation is 
much more accepted now. I have never seen alkaline hydrolysis facility. I don't personally 
care if there is ever one in ND. My feeling is that the state board brought this and I would 
like to pass the bill as presented, but if we can't, I don't want to lose the bill over that one 
issue. 

Representative P. Anderson: There is another box that says other. Couldn't you just check 
other and do it anyway? Does it actually have to be in the bill? 

Representative Seibel: Yes, I think you could, but if alkaline hydrolysis does come in to the 
stat, I think they are going to want that in the law so they can control it. If we let one in without 
controlling it then who is going to regulate their practices? 

Representative Westlind: I just want to go back to alkaline hydrolysis and the claims that 
there are still particles in that. In cremation we have carbon particles floating into the air. 
The other thing is when you are getting someone ready for burial you are flushing the blood 
from his system, right? Where does the blood go? 

Representative Seibel: It goes down the drain into the sewage system. There have been 
tests and the water leaving the embalming table because it has been in contact with the 
embalming fluid is more innate than dish soap water going down the drain. 

Representative Westlind: Do you have to filter it? 
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Representative Seibel: No 

Representative McWilliams: I am coming at this from the Catholic stand point. From their 
perspective it is not the environmental thing, but the problem we have is the separation 
between the soft tissues and the bones. When you are being cremated the ask goes up, but 
that is a natural process. Cremation has been practiced a long, long time. When we look at 
introducing an otherwise unnatural process of a chemical being introduced, that separates 
the soft tissue from the bone and under a lot of theologies when you do that it is not being 
respectful to the dead. For that reason, I would always be against alkaline hydrolysis. for it. 
To put it on a death certificate if it is done some"Yhere else, that doesn't bother me. 

Chairman Weisz: I understand that each religion has their own ideas of what is acceptable 
and what isn't, but does the legislature have the right to say that someone else can't have 
alkaline hydrolysis because of my beliefs? Should the state say that because of someone's 
religious belief no one can do it. Should the state ban something that will never involve that 
other person? 

Representative Seibel: Catholic church was against cremation for a long time, but they have 
come full circle. 

Representative McWilliams: The American Catholic Church took a while to adjust to it, but it 
was practiced for a long time in Europe and other parts of the world . I agree with you , 
Chairman Weisz, but it could be said of a lot of things that maybe it isn't our right to tell them 
what to do. Is it our right to tell an eighteen- year old that he can't smoke? Is it our job to tell 
a business when they can be open on Sunday and what products they can sell? I think there 
are a lot of things in law that we do that for. We are also responsible to make sure our friends 
and loved ones and those around us have a respectful burial. 

Representative Skroch: I am going to throw out a hypothetical situation . Say someone is 
angry with their loved one and they just want to put them in a blender and grind them up and 
use them for fertilizer. Do we then as a state have the right to say, "No that is not a dignifies 
method of disposing of your loved one".? That is where I come down on this . To me it is not 
about an environmental issue here. It is whether or not we hold the human body as having 
a higher dignity than a plant. Do we look at that dead body as something created by a higher 
being and therefore, hold that body up to a higher standard . I think in that regard we as a 
state have the right to decide if a method of disposal is something we can have some say 
on . 

Chairman Weisz: Then we would have to do the same thing with cremation. 

Representative Seibel: Legally, the state department of health does not keep track of what 
happens to a body after it has been cremated . Legally you cannot scatter ashes on a public 
place. You can scatter on your own property, but you can't go to the city park and scatter. 

Representative B. Anderson: After hearing all of this , I am very comfortable with the way the 
bill is presented. I don't have any questions about how they are going to dispose of bodies 
at all. I would be in favor of the bill as presented. 
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Representative Westlind: I would like to make motion for a do pass on HB 1294. 

Representative B. Anderson: I will second this motion 

Chairman Weisz: Discussion on the motion . 

Representative Skroch: I think it is undignified to scatter ashes all over. Maybe we need 
more legislation on cremation too. 

Chairman Weisz: Further discussion. I know this is a serious thing to consider. 

Representative Schneider: I will vote no on this with the alkaline hydrolysis, because I have 
had lots of constituent contact. They seem to think pretty strongly about it. 

Representative D. Anderson : I think Representative Seibel: wants this to pass, so I think we 
should listen to him. 

Representative Seibel: I am going to vote no on this one anyway. I am going to vote no so 
we can amend that part out, because I am not sure I believe in it personally. 

Representative Westlind : I will withdraw my motion on Representative Seibel 
recommendations . 

Chairman Weisz: what about the second? Representative B. Anderson , are you comfortable 
withdrawing your second? 

Representative B. Anderson : Yes, I will withdraw it. 

Chairman Weisz: Ok the motion is off the table. 

Representative Seibel: I would like to offer an amendment on page 2 line 4. Remove the 
words alkaline hydrolysis. Again on page 13, lines 3 and 4 also remove alkaline hydrolysis. 

Chairman Weisz: Ok, we have a motion. Is there a second? 
Representative Kiefert: Second 

Voice vote on the amendment carried. 

Representative Skroch: I move for a do pass as amended . 

Representative McWilliams: second motion. 

Chairman Weisz: Is there further discussion? 

Representative Devlin : I don't think this is the state's business at all. This is a family issue 
and the state has no business in it. 
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Chairman Weisz: Further discussion or comments? The clerk will call the roll for a do pass 
as amended on HB 1294. 

Roll call vote Yes 7 No 4 Absent 3 

Chairman Weisz: who will volunteer to carry it? 
Representative D. Anderson: I will carry it. 
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Page 2, line 4, remove "alkaline hydrolysis," 

Page 13, line 3, remove "alkaline" 

Page 13, line 4, remove "hydrolysis," 

Renumber accordingly 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

A bill relating to transportation and disposition upon death; and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: 

V-Chair Larsen: Brought the hearing to order, Chair J. Lee and Senator Anderson were in 
other committees for a time. 

Representative Jay Seibel, District 33 (1 :00-1 :45) introduced the bill, please see 
attachment #1. 

Jeff Brose, North Dakota State Board of Funeral Service (2:00-11 :30) testified in favor, 
please see attachment #2. 

V-Chair Larsen: What do you do with a situation with transients or homeless individuals? 

Mr. Brose: If it was a suspicious death or we didn't know who they were, they would go to 
the medical examiners. 

Senator Piepkorn: Why does 28-year-old woman need to have the Duty? I don't think 
anyone else in the family is responsible for any other things, like loans. Why when they're 
dead does someone have to step up and take responsibility for them? 

Mr. Brose: What we're getting at is who do we go to? In our law, under the right of 
inheritance, these proposed changes follow that, the mother was technically in charge, what 
if she sues me? It tells us who to go to. It tells us who has final say. 

Senator Piepkorn: So does that happen? Are you under the threat of lawsuit? 

Mr. Brose: No, but you need to do things correctly. 

V-Chair Larsen: In a situation I had when I was teaching, a student ended up being the go 
to person and had to foot the bill. 
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Mr. Brose: If you're of age, correct. 

Senator Kreun: Would there be a time frame to put on this bill, so you aren't chasing 
someone in perpetuity, to make that decision? 

Mr. Brose: There is a section in our law; the body must be disposed in 8 days. If not, then 
you have to go to the Health Department and apply for an extension. 

Senator Kreun: What I'm getting at, shouldn't there be a timeframe for the relative to give 
an authorization, or after that timeframe it's null and void, they don't have that opportunity. 

Mr. Brose: There is another area, under transportation, 48 hours or 72 if refrigerated, there's 
that provision, if you're going to have them cremated, you have to do it in 48 hours. 

Senator Kreun: I'm asking if that's going to be helpful in that situation . For spring burials, if 
the body can't be buried, wouldn't you have that it would take place, so they can't wait until 
August? 

Mr. Brose: Once I get the okay from the sexton of the cemetery that we can go ahead, I tell 
them we can't wait. 

Senator Kreun: Wouldn't you want to put that in your contract? Told a story about his father
in-law (18:40-19:05). 

Mr. Brose: That could be written into our statements with the family. 

Senator Kreun: It wouldn't have to be in law. 

Senator Clemens: On financial obligations, how far does it go down, who's responsible for 
a funeral? 

Mr. Brose: One of the county guys will address that. 

Senator Piepkorn: About the majority control , what if you have 4 kids with 2 and 2, you'd 
still have a problem. 

Mr. Brose: In the case of cremation , it would mean we're not going to cremate, in the case 
of a tie. 

Dale Niewoehner, State Board of Funeral Service (21 :05-25:25) if responsibility can't be 
determined by the children, goes down the ladder of other responsible persons in the 
relationship, if all those fail , the court would make that dissemination. On the question about 
waiting, generally this isn't a problem, we'd like to have a little leverage in the bill. If that 
determination can't be made about cremation, then the law regarding embalming takes 
effect, which is a transportation law, a body must be embalmed if it cannot reach its final 
disposition within 48-72 hours. If the family can't decide, then we'll have to embalm the body. 
Spoke on section 23 from Jeff Brose's testimony Please see attachment #2. (23:35-25:25) 
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Senator Anderson: Is that a requirement, or an option? 

Mr. Niewoehner: I don't know if we've determined that, it can be or can't be. They cannot 
serve it before 1 year of school, but if they want to say, no this is really what I want, they can 
do two years of school then go to the internship. 

Senator Anderson: The point would be they could do it piecemeal, or all at once, that's their 
option. 

Chair J. Lee: I'm not clear where it says that they have to go back to an accredited college 
of mortuary science, I'm reading section 23, I see it's down from two years to one; where 
does it say they have to return to school? 

Mr. Niewoehner: You'll find that in another part of the century code. 

V-Chair Larsen: Are there faiths that don't allow embalming? 

Mr. Niewoehner: Yes, but then they're going to fall under this time period, there are bodies 
being transported all over the states, within the 48-72 hour time limit. 

Terry Trayner (28:50-32:30) testified in favor, please see attachment #3. When a person 
dies without resources to cover their own disposition, the family is looked to do that, if the 
family lacks sufficient resources, then the county steps in. Chapter 23-06 is a public health 
chapter it talks about the state's responsibility for public health by disposing of the body. The 
challenge with the bill, we support the hierarchy of decision-making regarding the disposition 
that's being written into section 8, subsection 1. When you get to subsection 6 the deceased 
is not survived by an individual described in subsection 1, and did not leave sufficient means 
to defray the funeral expenses, the county steps in. Each county has a general assistance 
policy; to determine who they're going to identify family members that are financially 
responsible. This seems to suggest that all listed in subsection 1 are responsibly not just for 
making decision, but also for financial part of disposition. With the timeframes, there's not a 
reasonable way the counties could exhaust that list to determine if there was financial 
responsibility, nor should the nieces and nephews be asked to provide their W-2's, most 
counties use 1st degree of kinship. Every county is a little different, they have a GA policy; 
that's what the law says. Our amendment, please see attachment #4, for decision making, 
subsection 1 covers all those different individuals, but as far as financial responsibility, we 
rely on the county's general assistance policy on who we look at. 

Senator Piepkorn: There seems to be a gray area, when it comes to responsibility for 
paying. Maybe nobody in the family wants anything to do with the deceased. So is a lot of 
this about who's going to pay for this? 

Mr. Trayner: No, in our minds, who's going to pay is dictated by the county's general 
assistance policy, If the person dies with money, they pay, if they have a mother, father, son, 
or daughter, they pay; and the county will look at the finances, because that's what they are 
required to do by law. The family are legally responsible. If the family has no resources, then 
the county pays, every county negotiates with their funeral homes for indigent burial. 
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Senator Piepkorn: So 28-year-old adult, dies, the parents can still be held accountable. 

Mr. Trayner: If they can be found and have resources, yes, if they can't be located, the 
county will step in. 

Senator Clemens: Looking at page 7, subsection 1, quickly what would be all the involved 
relatives? 

Mr. Trayner: Subsection 1 determines who makes the decision. The county general 
assistance policy governs who pays. The county GA policy generally says 1st degree of 
kinship; we don't want to look at anybody else, counties want to focus on those who really 
should be responsible. I understand the hierarchy is necessary, if there are no close family 
members, the county will pay, but somebody's got to make the decision if we're going to do 
cremation or burial, it seem reasonable that other family members would be brought into that 
decision. 

Senator Clemens: Then if your amendment is accepted, that financial will go down further? 

Mr. Trayner: No, it would say in subsection 1 and identified for financial responsibility within 
the county general assistance policy; we're trying to preserve the current situation. 
When it comes to a death; a death certificate has to be created and signed by a doctor or 
coroner. If it is a non-natural death, a doctor cannot sign it has to be the county coroner, if 
it's not obvious, they refer to the state forensic examiner. 

No neutral or opposition testimony 

V-Chair Larsen: closed the hearing. 
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Chair J. Lee: We had an amendment, 

Mike Krumwiede, lobbyist, North Dakota Funeral Director's Association: The real 
reason they want it, the main part where it defines who would be the person the county would 
contact, when it came to final disposition. This is important, because before everyone had to 
be in agreement, the part that changes, bottom of page 4, the majority of adult children, or 
one of the parents could do it, it gives the definition that's used in many other states. 

Chair J. Lee: I thought there was some discussion about going so far down the relationship 
chain. 

Mr. Krumwiede: That's in 1338. They mirror each other in these definitions. We didn't mess 
with the definitions. 

Chair J. Lee: We did have an amendment by Terry Traynor, were the Funeral Directors 
amenable to it? 

Mr. Krumwiede: Part of it. That's the part that we are ok with. What that does, is says they 
had to contact everyone in section 1, which is four pages long, if the county had to go through 
four pages of people to figure out what to do, nothing would ever happen. We just wanted 
the definitions in there, of who they had to go to. They can go as far as they want to, they 
can decide at a county level. 

Chair J. Lee: Terry said most counties do 151 degree of kinship in determining payment. 

Senator Anderson: The counties wanted to keep the definition of who they have to pursue, 
so that we don't go beyond that. Hopefully these definitions don't go beyond that, because it 
just extends the time to make decisions. 

- - - ------ --- ---
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Mr. Krumwiede: They both stated they have to go further, the amendment fixes it, they can 
choose how far down the line they have to go, but they have to use this definition as the 
stepping stone. They can't jump around. 

Chair J. Lee: They would be ok with this phrase being added in . 

Senator Anderson: I move to adopt amendment. 
V-Chair Larsen: Second. 
A roll call vote was taken. 
Motion passes 7-0-0. 

Senator Anderson: I move Do Pass as Amended. 
V-Chair Larsen: Second. 
A roll call vote was taken 
Motion passes 7-0-0. 
Senator Anderson will carry. 
Chair J. Lee: Closed the meeting. 
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Chairman Weisz and fellow members of the House Human Services 

Committee. For the record, I am Rep. Jay Seibel and I represent District 33 which 

includes all of Mercer and Oliver Counties as well as a portion of Morton County. 

I stand before you today to introduce a bill on behalf of the North Dakota 

State Board of Funeral Service. I served on this board a few years ago and am 

more than willing to try to help them with legislation I feel is very important and 

necessary. 

I will not go into the details of this bill, as a member of the State Board of 

Funeral Service is here to do exactly that. 

Again, thank you Chairman Weisz and members of the Committee. I will 

obviously be here for discussion and will be willing to answer any questions that 

may arise. 
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HB 1294 

Greetings Chairman Weisz, Vice Chairman Rohr, and other members of the House Human 
Services Committee: 

My name is Jeff Brose. I own the funeral home in Mohall and also serve on the North Dakota 
State Board of Funeral Service. Our Board reviewed several areas of our law and we propose 
that several changes be made. Much of it is updating the terminology in our law. 

I will go through the changes by section and discuss the proposed changes to each law. 

Section 1: There are several references in our law to "burial." The problem with the word 
"burial" is that it is not defined. In both 43-10-01 and 23-02.1-01 , "burial" is not defined. "Final 
Disposition" is defined. "Burial" is just one form of "final disposition." There are several other 
forms of "final disposition. We would like to see our law updated to remove the word "burial" 
to reflect the correct definition. 

Section 2: Our Board discovered that the definitions of "final disposition" in 23-02.1-01 #9 and 
in 43 -10-01 #4 didn' t match. In our law, final disposition did not include whole-body donation 
to a school of medicine, although this has been done for years. 
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Section 3: Cleans up the language. 

Section 4: Cleans up the language. 

Section 5: Cleans up the language. 

Section 6: Cleans up the language. 

Section 7: Cleans up the language. 

Section 8: This is the biggest change to the law. First it cleans up the language from "Duty of 
Burial" to "Duty of Final Disposition." 
The second change is it extends the Duty out beyond a surviving spouse or children. I had a case 
a few years ago where a never-married, 28-year-old woman with no children died in a car 
accident. She had two brothers and her mother as next-of-kin. Who has the Duty? The brothers 
or her mother? Our law is not clear. 
The third change is it adds majority control. After a surviving spouse, our current law lists 
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" ... kindred, upon one or more individuals in the same degree, of adult age ... " meaning all the 
children. We are seeing more and more cremation. If the deceased didn' t leave specific written 
instructions, we have to obtain signatures from all the adult children in order to proceed with 
cremation. I will use the same family as an example. Three months prior to this young woman's 
death, her divorced father died. The family opted for direct cremation. I had signed cremation 
authorizations from her two brothers. I literally had to chase this young lady down to a bar to get 
her signature; she avoided me all day. Another example: I served a family with five surviving 
children. Four signed the cremation authorization. The fifth was on the outs with the rest of the 
family. It took considerable arm-twisting from the family and me to get him to sign. Funeral 
directors often times get stuck in the middle of family drama. One more example: I served a 
family where there were three surviving daughters and one son. One daughter had not spoken to 
her mother in 14 years. In all of these examples, if our law had a provision for majority control, 
these headaches could be avoided. 
The proposed changes to the Duty of Final Disposition do have precedent in law; these were 
copied from Minnesota law and blended into our existing law (See attachement). 

Section 9: Cleans up the language. It also addresses winter, or other acts of nature, as it applies 
to storage in holding vaults. Due to our winter climate, many cemeteries don't have burials 
during the winter months. When the ground thaws, we have spring burials typically during the 
month of May and early June. The problem we' re seeing is families wanting to delay the spring 
burial until "the family reunion the first weekend of August." These storage vaults aren't 
refrigerated and the summers can be quite hot. 
An example of other acts of nature: I served a family where the husband died May l 81h. The 
comer of the cemetery where he was to be buried was under water. The cemetery sexton called 
me a few weeks later and said things had dried out and we could have the burial. I called the 
wife with the news. She wanted to wait until the weekend after Labor Day because someone in 
the family couldn't be there. The health department would not give me a permit to store him any 
longer. 
This proposed change in the law puts some teeth into getting these burials done in a timely 
manner. 

Section 10: Cleans up the language. 

Section 11: Cleans up the language. 

Section 12: Cleans up the language. 

Section 13: Cleans up the language. 

Section 14: Cleans up the language. 

Section 15: Cleans up the language. 



Section 16: Cleans up the language. 

Section 17: Cleans up the language. 

Section 18: Cleans up the language. 

Section 19: Cleans up the language. 

Section 20: Cleans up the language. 

Section 21: Cleans up the language. 

Section 22: The proposed changes coincide with the changes to 23-02.1-01 #9. 

Section 23: This proposal changes the requirements to become an intern embalmer. Currently, 
an applicant must graduate from high school, have at least 2 years of college and graduate from 
an accredited mortuary school. This change would allow an applicant to serve a portion of the 

·internship prior to mortuary school. 
At a Board meeting, it was voted that no more than six months of an internship could be served 
prior to mortuary school. If this law passes, that provision would then be placed into Title 25 
(25-02-02-06). 

The reason for this change is the Board is seeing many young licensees dropping out of the 
funeral profession in the first few years after getting their license and one would expect that they 
were really not set out to be in this business in the first place. It would allow for first-hand 
experience before all the education is completed to see if they really like it. The ND Funeral 
Directors Association asked for this change and site a shortage of licensees in the state. This 
change would also potentially shorten the time it would take to receive a license. 
From my own experience, during my last six months at Mayville State, I had the opportunity to 
work at the funeral home in Mayville. It was a wonderful learning experience for me prior to 
going to mortuary school, although it didn't count toward my internship. 

Section 24: Cleans up the language. It also deletes "branch establishment." "Branch 
Establishment," Article 25-06, was repealed under Title 25. 

Section 25: Cleans up the language. 

Members of the House Human Services Committee, thank you for your consideration of this bill. 
I would urge you to vote yes on the passage of this bill. There are several areas of our current 
law in which the language needs to be cleaned up. This bill would expand the list of who has the 
Duty of Final Disposition and allow for majority control. At this time, do any of you have 
questions of me? 

Respectfully, 
Jeff Brose 
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MINNESOTA STATUTES 2016 149A.80 

149A.80 DEATH; RIGHT TO CONTROL AND DUTY OF DISPOSITION. 

Subdivision 1. Advance directives and will of decedent. A person may direct the preparation for, type, 
or place of that person's final disposition, as well as the type of conveyance to be used to transport the body 
to the place of final disposition by written instructions. Arrangements made in advance of need must be in 
writing and dated, signed, and witnessed. The person or persons otherwise entitled to control the final 
disposition under this chapter shall faithfully carry out the reasonable and otherwise lawful directions of the 
decedent to the extent that the decedent has provided resources for the purpose of carrying out the directions. 
lf the instructions are contained in a will , they shall be immediately carried out,-regardless of the validity 
of the will in other respects or of the fact that the will may not be offered for or admitted to probate until a 
later date, subject to other provisions of this chapter or any other law of this state. This subdivision shall be 
administered and construed so that the reasonable and lawful instructions of the decedent or the person 
entitled to control the final disposition shall be faithfully and promptly performed. 

Subd. 2: Determination of right to control and duty of disposition. The right to control the dead 
human body, including the location and conditions of final disposition, unless other directions have been 
given by the decedent pursuant to subdivision 1, vests in, and the duty of final disposition of the body 
devolves upon, the following in the order of priority listed : 

(I) the person or persons appointed in a dated written instrument signed by the decedent. Written 
instrument includes, but is not limited to, a health care directive executed under chapter 145C. If there is a 
di~pute involving more than one written instrument, a written instrument that is witnessed or notarized 
prevails over a written instrument that is not witnessed or notarized. Written instrument does not include a 
durable or nondurable power of attorney which terminates on the death of the principal pursuant to sections 
523.08 and 523.09; 

(2) the spouse of the decedent; 

(3) the adult child or the majority of the adult children of the decedent, provided that, in the absence of 
actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given by the child 
or children who represent that they are the sole surviving child, or that they constitute a majority of the 
surviving children; 

(4) the surviving parent or parents of the decedent, each having equal authority; 

(5) the adult sibling or the majority of the adult siblings of the decedent, provided that, in the absence 
of actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given by the 
sibling or siblings who represent that they are the sole surviving sibling, or that they constitute a majority 
of the surviving siblings; 

(6) the adult grandchild or the majority of the adult grandchildren of the decedent, provided that, in the 
absence of actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given 
by a grandchild or grandchildren who represent that they are the only grandchild or grandchildren reasonably 
available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains or represent a majority of grandchildren 
reasonably available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains; 

(7) the grandparent or the grandparents of the decedent, each having equal authority; 

(8) the adult nieces and nephews of the decedent, or a majority of them, provided that, in the absence 
of actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given by a niece, 
nephew, or nieces or nephews who represent that they are the only niece, nephew, or nieces or nephews 
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reasonably available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains or represent a majority of nieces 
and nephews reasonably available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains; 

(9) the person or persons who were acting as the guardians of the person of the decedent with authority 
to make health care decisions for the decedent at the time of death; 

(10) an adult who exhibited special care and concern for the decedent; 

(I I) the person or persons respectively in the next degree of kinship in the order named by law to inherit 
the estate of the decedent; and 

(12) the appropriate public or court authority, as required by law. 

For purposes of this subdivision, the appropriate public or court authority includes the county board of 
the county in which the death occurred if the person dies without apparent financial means to provide for 
final disposition or the district court in the county in which the death occurred. 

Subd. 3. Estranged persons. Where there is only one person in a degree ofrelationship to the decedent 
described in subdivision 2, clauses (I) to (6), and a district court pursuant to subdivision 5, determines that 
the person and the decedent were estranged at the time of death, the right to control and the duty of disposition 
shall devolve to the person or persons in the next degree of relationship pursuant to subdivision 2, clauses 
( l) to (6). For purposes of this subdivision, "estranged" means having a relationship characterized by mutual 
enmity, hostility, or indifference. 

Subd. 4. Refusal of right to control and duty of disposition. If a person or persons to whom the right 
to control and duty of disposition devolve pursuant to subdivision 2, clauses ( 1) to (6), refuses to accept or 
declines to act upon the right or duty, that right and duty shall pass as follows: 

(l) to another person or persons with the same degree of relationship to the decedent as the person or 
persons refusing to accept or declining to act; or 

(2) to the person or persons in the next degree of relationship to the decedent pursuant to subdivision 2, 
clauses (I) to (6). · 

Subd. 5. Disputes. When a dispute exists regarding the rig)1t to control or duty of dispositi.on, the parties 
in dispute or the mortician or funeral director may file a petition in the district court in the county of residence 
of the decedent requesting that the court make a determination in the matter. Should the right to control and 
duty of disposition devolve to more than one person with the same degree of relationship to the decedent 
and those persons cannot, by majority vote, make a decision regarding arrangements and final disposition 
and a district court has been petitioned to make a determination, the court shall consider the following factors 
in making its determination: 

(I) the reasonableness, practicality, and resources available for payment of the proposed arrangements 
and final disposition; 

(2) the degree of the personal relationship between the decedent and each of the persons in the same 
degree of relationship to the decedent; 

(3) the expressed wishes and directions of the decedent and the extent to which the decedent has provided 
resources for the purpose of carrying out the wishes or directions; and 

(4) the degree to which the arrangements and final disposition will allow for participation by all who 
wish to pay respect to the decedent. 
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Subd. 6. Control by funeral director or mortician. A funeral director or mortician shall have complete 
authority to control the final disposition and to proceed under this chapter to recover reasonable charges for 
the final disposition when both of the following apply: 

(I) the funeral director or mortician has actual knowledge that none of the persons described in subdivision 
2, clauses(!) to (6), exist or that none of the persons so described can be found after reasonable inquiry or 
contacted by reasonable means; and 

(2) the appropriate public or court authority fails to assume responsibility for disposition of the remains 
within 36 hours after having been given written notice of the facts. Written notice may be delivered by hand, 
United States mail , facsimile transmission, or telegraph. 

Subd. 7. Immunity. A funeral director or mortician shall not be subject to criminal prosecution or civil 
liability for carrying out the otherwise lawful instructions of the decedent or the person or persons whom 
the funeral director or mortician reasonably believes is entitled to control the final disposition. 

Subd. 8. Liability for cost of final disposition. In addition to separate contractual obligations, the 
liability for the reasonable cost of final disposition devolves upon the estate of the decedent, regardless of 
whether testate or intestate, and the distributees of the estate pursuant to chapter 524, the Uniform Probate 
Code. In the case of persons who die without apparent financial means to provide for final disposition, 
control of final disposition and liability devolves to the county board of the county in which the death 
occurred, pursuant to section 261.035 . In the case of unclaimed bodies delivered for dissection by the medical 
examiner and anatomical gifts of the entire body made pursuant to section 149A.81 , subdivision 2, subject 
to the terms of the gift, liability for transportation and final disposition shall be borne by the institution 
receiving the body. 

Subd. 9. Interference with body or final disposition. Any person that arrests, attaches, detains, or 
claims to detain any human remains for any debt or demand, or upon any pretended lien or charge, or who, 
without authority oflaw, obstructs or detains a person charged with the duty or engaged in the final disposition 
of a dead human body, or fails to release any dead human body upon the receipt of authorization for the 
release signed by a person or persons entitled to custody of the body is guilty .of a misdemeanor. Criminal 
prosecution shall not preclude the commissioner from taking any other lawful disciplinary action. 

History: 1997 c 215 s 34; 1998 c 399 s 27; 2007 c 114 s 39,40; 2007 c 120 art 2 s 1,5; 2008 c 228 s 4; 
2009c117 art 2 s 1,2; 2010 c 262 s 4 
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To: House Human Services Committee 
From: Christopher T. Dodson, Executive Director 
Subject: House Bill 1294 - Alkaline Hydrolysis for Disposal of Human Remains 
Date: January 24, 2017 

The North Dakota Catholic Conference opposes those portions of House Bill 

1294 that allow the use of alkaline hydrolysis to dispose of human remains. 

Alkaline hydrolysis reduces the human body to bone ash and a liquid substance 

through a chemical reaction. While the bone ashes might be returned to the 

decedent's family, the liquid substance that is produced in the process, which can 

amount to 300 gallons, is usually flushed into the public waste system. 

Every human person has an innate dignity that calls for the remains of every 

deceased person to be treated with the upmost respect. RevBrence and respect 

tor human remains are important principles which have been reflected in society 

down t1rough the ages. These principles are also reflected iri North Dakota laws 

that govern how human remains are to be treated. 

Alkalm:7 nydrolys:s fails to provide North Dakota citizens Hith the rev•3rence and 

respect tt1ey should receive by the end of their lives. 

We are also concerned about the lack of procedural and environmental oversight 

in the bill. The bill makes no distinction between created or entombed remains 

and hydrolyzed remains, although the procedures and the remains are entirely 

different. Only a handful of states have allowed alkaline hydrolysis for the 

dispos·tion of human remains and, notably, at least some of those states have 

legaliz8d it only with significant licensing, operating, and environmental oversight. 

The massive volume of viscous liquid, which includes acids and soaps from hody 

fat, that would be added to our water treatment systems through alkaline 

hydro:ysis is reason alone to not lump the process in with other methods of 

disposition.1 
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Testimony on House Bill 1294, page 2 

We urge the committee to give a Do Not Pass recommendation to HB 1294 or remove those 

sections that would allow alkaline hydrolysis because they fail to provide North Dakota citizens 

with the reverence and respect they should receive at the end of their lives and because it lacks 

important regulatory and environmental oversight. 

1 See "Confessions of a Funeral Director"; http://www.calebwilde.com/2014/07/alkaline-hydrolysis-water
cremation-and-the-ick-factor/ 



HB 1294 

Madam Chair Lee and members of the Senate Human Services Committee. 

For the record, I am Rep. Jay Seibel and I represent District 33 which includes 

Mercer and Oliver Counties as well as a portion of Morton County. 

I stand before you today to introduce HB 1294 on behalf of the North 

Dakota State Board of Funeral Service. I served on this board a few years ago and 

am more than willing to try to help them with legislation I feel is very important 

and necessary. This bill makes some very important changes that the Board has 

been working on for quite some time. 

I will not go into the details of this bill, as a member of the State Board of 

Funeral Service is here to do exactly that. I hope that you will give HB 1294 a DO 

PASS recommendation. 

Again, thank you Madam Chair and members of the Committee. 



HB 1294 

Greetings Chairman Lee, Vice Chairman Larsen, and other members of the Senate Human 
Services Committee: 

My name is Jeff Brose. I own the funeral home in Mohall and also serve on the North Dakota 
State Board of Funeral Service. Our Board reviewed several areas of our law and we propose 
that several changes be made. Much of it is updating the terminology in our law. 

I will go through the changes by section and discuss the proposed changes to each law. 

Section 1: There are several references in our law to "burial." The problem with the word 
"burial" is that it is not defined. In both 43-10-01 and 23-02.1-01 , "burial" is not defined. "Final 
Disposition" is defined. "Burial" is just one form of "final disposition." There are several other 
forms of "final disposition. We would like to see our law updated to remove the word "burial" 
to reflect the correct definition. 

Section 2: Our Board discovered that the definitions of "final disposition" in 23-02.1-01 #9 and 
in 43-10-01 #4 didn ' t match. In our law, final disposition did not include whole-body donation 
to a school of medicine, although this has been done for years. 

Section 3: Cleans up the language. 

Section 4: Cleans up the language. 

Section 5: Cleans up the language. 

Section 6: Cleans up the language. 

Section 7: Cleans up the language. 

Section 8: This is the biggest change to the law. First it cleans up the language from "Duty of 
Burial" to "Duty of Final Disposition." 
The second change is it extends the Duty out beyond a surviving spouse or children. A question 
came up during the House hearing regarding parents whose parental rights had been terminated. 
The intent of Section 8 of this Bill is not to reinstate rights to a parent or relative after a court has 
terminated parental rights. 
I had a case a few years ago where a never-married, 28-year-old woman with no children died in 
a car accident. She had two brothers and her mother as next-of-kin. Who has the Duty? Her 
brothers or her mother? Our law is not clear. 
My last-surviving 97-year-old great-aunt recently died. She was widowed with no children. 
Under our current law, if she hadn't made her wishes known under 23-06-31 , who has the Duty 
of Final Disposition? Our law is not clear. 
The third change is it adds majority control. After a surviving spouse, our current law lists 
" ... kindred, upon one or more individuals in the same degree, of adult age .. . " meaning all the 



children. We are seeing more and more cremation. If the deceased didn't leave specific written 
instructions under 23-06-31, we have to obtain signatures from all the adult children in order to 
proceed with cremation. I will use the same family as an example. Three months prior to this 
young woman's death, her divorced father died. The family opted for direct cremation. I had 
signed cremation authorizations from her two brothers. I literally had to chase this young lady 
down to a bar to get her signature; she avoided me all day. Another example: I served a family 
with five surviving children. Four signed the cremation authorization. The fifth was on the outs 
with the rest of the family. It took considerable arm-twisting from the family and me to get him 
to sign. Funeral directors often times get stuck in the middle of family drama. One more 
example: I served a family where there were three surviving daughters and one son. One 
daughter had not spoken to her mother in 14 years. In all of these examples, if our law had a 
provision for majority control, these headaches could be avoided. 
The proposed changes to the Duty of Final Disposition do have precedent in law; these were 
copied from Minnesota law and blended into our existing law (See attachement). 

Section 9: Cleans up the language. It also addresses winter, or other acts of nature, as it applies 
to storage in holding vaults. Due to our winter climate, many cemeteries don't have burials 
during the winter months. When the ground thaws, we have spring burials typically during the 
month of May and early June. The problem we're seeing is families wanting to delay the spring 
burial until "the family reunion the first weekend of August." These storage vaults aren't 
refrigerated and the summers can be quite hot. 
An example of other acts of nature: I served a family where the husband died May l 81h. The 
comer of the cemetery where he was to be buried was under water. The cemetery sexton called 
me a few weeks later and said things had dried out and we could have the burial. I called the 
wife with the news. She wanted to wait until the weekend after Labor Day because someone in 
the family couldn't be there. The health department would not give me a permit to store him any 
longer. 
This proposed change in the law puts some teeth into getting these burials done in a timely 
manner. 

Section 10: Cleans up the language. 

Section 11: Cleans up the language. 

Section 12: Cleans up the language. 

Section 13: Cleans up the language. 

Section 14: Cleans up the language. 

Section 15: Cleans up the language. 

Section 16: Cleans up the language. 



Section 1 7: Cleans up the language. 

Section 18: Cleans up the language. 

Section 19: Cleans up the language. 

Section 20: Cleans up the language. 

Section 21 : Cleans up the language. 

Section 22: The proposed changes coincide with the changes to 23-02.1-01 #9. 

Section 23: This proposal changes the requirements to become an intern embalmer. Currently, 
an applicant must graduate from high school, have at least 2 years of college and graduate from 
an accredited mortuary school. This change would allow an applicant to serve a portion of the 
internship prior to mortuary school. 
At a Board meeting, it was voted that no more than six months of an internship could be served 
prior to mortuary school. If this law passes, that provision would then be placed into Title 25 
(25-02-02-06). 
The reason for this change is the Board is seeing many young licensees dropping out of the 
funeral profession in the first few years after getting their license and one would expect that they 
were really not set out to be in this business in the first place. It would allow for first-hand 
experience before all the education is completed to see if they really like it. The ND Funeral 
Directors Association asked for this change and site a shortage of licensees in the state. This 
change would also potentially shorten the time it would take to receive a license. 
From my own experience, during my last six months at Mayville State, I had the opportunity to 
work at the funeral home in Mayville. It was a wonderful learning experience for me prior to 
going to mortuary school, although it didn' t count toward my internship. 

Section 24: Cleans up the language. It also deletes "branch establishment." "Branch 
Establishment," Article 25-06, was repealed under Title 25. 

Section 25: Cleans up the language. 

Members of the House Human Services Committee, thank you for your consideration of this bill. 
I would urge you to vote yes on the passage of this bill. There are several areas of our current 
law in which the language needs to be cleaned up. This bill would expand the list of who has the 
Duty of Final Disposition and allow for majority control. At this time, do any of you have 
questions of me? 

Respectfully, 
Jeff Brose 
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149A. 745 PROHIBITION ON PREINTERMENT OF OUTER BURIAL CONTAINERS. 

A funeral provider is prohibited from interring a lined and sealed outer burial container until the death 
of the beneficiary. 

History: 2000 c 438 s 28 

149A.75 FUNERAL INDUSTRY PRACTICES; RETENTION OF DOCUMENTS. 

Funeral providers must retain and make available for inspection true and accurate copies of the applicable 
price lists specified in section 149A.71 , subdivision 2, paragraphs (c) to (e), for a minimum of one calendar 
year after the date of their last distribution to customers. In addition, funeral providers must retain a copy 
of each statement of funeral goods, funeral services, burial site goods, and burial site services selected, as 
described in section 149A. 71, subdivision 2, paragraph (f), for a minimum of three calendar years from the 
date of the arrangement conference. Following this period and subject to any other laws requiring retention 
of records, the funeral provider may then place the records in storage or reduce them to microfilm, microfiche, 
laser disc, or any other method that can produce an accurate reproduction of the original record, for retention 
for a period often calendar years from the date of the arrangement conference. At the end of this period and 
subject to any other laws requiring retention of records, the funeral provider may destroy the records by 
shredding, incineration, or any other manner that protects the privacy of the individuals identified in the 
records. 

History: 1997 c 215 s 32; 2000 c 438 s 29 

149A.76 FUNERAL INDUSTRY PRACTICES; COMPREHENSION OF DISCLOSURES. 

Funeral providers must make all disclosures required under sections 149A.71to149A.74 in a clear and 
conspicuous manner. 

History: 1997 c 215 s 33 

149A.80 DEATH; RIGHT TO CONTROL AND DUTY OF DISPOSITION. 

Subdivision 1. Advance directives and will of decedent. A person may direct the preparation for, type, 
or place of that person's final disposition, as well as the type of conveyance to be used to transport the body 
to the place of final disposition by written instructions. Arrangements made in advance of need must be in 
writing and dated, signed, and witnessed. The person or persons otherwise entitled to control the final 
disposition under this chapter shall faithfully carry out the reasonable and otherwise lawful directions of the 
decedent to the extent that the decedent has provided resources for the purpose of carrying out the directions. 
If the instructions are contained in a will, they shall be immediately carried out, regardless of the validity 
of the will in other respects or of the fact that the will may not be offered for or admitted to probate until a 
later date, subject to other provisions of this chapter or any other law of this state. This subdivision shall be 
administered and construed so that the reasonable and lawful instructions of the decedent or the person 
entitled to control the final disposition shall be faithfully and promptly performed. 

Subd. 2. Determination of right to control and duty of disposition. The right to control the dead 
human body, including the location and conditions of final disposition, unless other directions have been 
given by the decedent pursuant to subdivision 1, vests in, and the duty of final disposition of the body 
devolves upon, the following in the order of priority listed: 

(1) the person or persons appointed in a dated written instrument signed by the decedent. Written 
instrument includes, but is not limited to, a health care directive executed under chapter 145C. lfthere is a 
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dispute involving more than one written instrument, a written instrument that is witnessed or notarized 
prevails over a written instrument that is not witnessed or notarized. Written instrument does not include a 
durable or nondurable power of attorney which terminates on the death of the principal pursuant to sections 
523.08 and 523.09; 

(2) the spouse of the decedent; 

(3) the adult child or the majority of the adult children of the decedent, provided that, in the absence of 
actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given by the child 
or children who represent that they are the sole surviving child, or that they constitute a majority of the 
surviving children; 

(4) the surviving parent or parents of the decedent, each having equal authority; 

(5) the adult sibling or the majority of the adult siblings of the decedent, provided that, in the absence 
of actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given by the 
sibling or siblings who represent that they are the sole surviving sibling, or that they constitute a majority 
of the surviving siblings; 

(6) the adult grandchild or the majority of the adult grandchildren of the decedent, provided that, in the 
absence of actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given 
by a grandchild or grandchildren who represent that they are the only grandchild or grandchildren reasonably 
available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains or represent a majority of grandchildren 
reasonably available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains; 

(7) the grandparent or the grandparents of the decedent, each having equal authority; 

(8) the adult nieces and nephews of the decedent, or a majority of them, provided that, in the absence 
of actual knowledge to the contrary, a funeral director or mortician may rely on instructions given by a niece, 
nephew, or nieces or nephews who represent that they are the only niece, nephew, or nieces or nephews 
reasonably available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains or represent a majority of nieces 
and nephews reasonably available to control final disposition of the decedent's remains; 

(9) the person or persons who were acting as the guardians of the person of the decedent with authority 
to make health care decisions for the decedent at the time of death; 

(I 0) an adult who exhibited special care and concern for the decedent; 

(11) the person or persons respectively in the next degree of kinship in the order named by law to inherit 
the estate of the decedent; and 

( 12) the appropriate public or court authority, as required by law. 

For purposes of this subdivision, the appropriate public or court authority includes the county board of 
the county in which the death occurred if the person dies without apparent financial means to provide for 
final disposition or the district court in the county in which the death occurred. 

Subd. 3. Estranged persons. Where there is only one person in a degree ofrelationship to the decedent 
described in subdivision 2, clauses (1) to (6), and a district court pursuant to subdivision 5, determines that 
the person and the decedent were estranged at the time of death, the right to control and the duty of disposition 
shall devolve to the person or persons in the next degree of relationship pursuant to subdivision 2, clauses 
(1) to (6). For purposes of this subdivision, "estranged" means having a relationship characterized by mutual 
enmity, hostility, or indifference. 
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Subd. 4. Refusal of right to control and duty of disposition. If a person or persons to whom the right 
to control and duty of disposition devolve pursuant to subdivision 2, clauses (1) to (6), refuses to accept or 
declines to act upon the right or duty, that right and duty shall pass as follows: 

( 1) to another person or persons with the same degree of relationship to the decedent as the person or 
persons refusing to accept or declining to act; or 

(2) to the person or persons in the next degree ofrelationship to the decedent pursuant to subdivision 2, 
clauses ( 1) to ( 6). 

Subd. 5. Disputes. When a dispute exists regarding the right to control or duty of disposition, the parties 
in dispute or the mortician or funeral director may file a petition in the district court in the county ofresidence 
of the decedent requesting that the court make a determination in the matter. Should the right to control and 
duty of disposition devolve to more than one person with the same degree of relationship to the decedent 
and those persons cannot, by majority vote, make a decision regarding arrangements and final disposition 
and a district court has been petitioned to make a determination, the court shall consider the following factors 
in making its determination: 

(1) the reasonableness, practicality, and resources available for payment of the proposed arrangements 
and final disposition; 

(2) the degree of the personal relationship between the decedent and each of the persons in the same 
degree of relationship to the decedent; 

(3) the expressed wishes and directions of the decedent and the extent to which the decedent has provided 
resources for the purpose of carrying out the wishes or directions; and 

(4) the degree to which the arrangements and final disposition will allow for participation by all who 
wish to pay respect to the decedent. 

Subd. 6. Control by funeral director or mortician. A funeral director or mortician shall have complete 
authority to control the final disposition and to proceed under this chapter to recover reasonable charges for 
the final disposition when both of the following apply: 

(1) the funeral director or mortician has actual knowledge that none of the persons described in subdivision 
2, clauses (1) to (6), exist or that none of the persons so described can be found after reasonable inquiry or 
contacted by reasonable means; and 

(2) the appropriate public or court authority fails to assume responsibility for disposition of the remains 
within 36 hours after having been given written notice of the facts. Written notice may be delivered by hand, 
United States mail, facsimile transmission, or telegraph. 

Subd. 7. Immunity. A funeral director or mortician shall not be subject to criminal prosecution or civil 
liability for carrying out the otherwise lawful instructions of the decedent or the person or persons whom 
the funeral director or mortician reasonably believes is entitled to control the final disposition. 

Subd. 8. Liability for cost of final disposition. In addition to separate contractual obligations, the 
liability for the reasonable cost of final disposition devolves upon the estate of the decedent, regardless of 
whether testate or intestate, and the distributees of the estate pursuant to chapter 524, the Uniform Probate 
Code. In the case of persons who die without apparent financial means to provide for final disposition, 
control of final disposition and liability devolves to the county board of the county in which the death 
occurred, pursuant to section 261.035. In the case of unclaimed bodies delivered for dissection by the medical 
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SENATE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 

Prepared March 14, 2017 by 

Terry Traynor, Assistant Director 

North Dakota Association of Counties 

REGARDING ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL No. 1294 

Thank you Chair Lee and committee members for the opportunity to testify regarding this bill. 

As counties are mandated in Section 8 of the bill to provide for the disposition of bodies of 

indigent persons, our association has a keen interest in the changes proposed . 

County officials recognize and support the need of funeral directors to have a clear hierarchy 

for "decision-making", but the inclusion of many additional persons in subsection 1 of Section 8 

of the bill has a direct impact on county responsibilities in subsection 6 (page 7), at least as it is 

now written . 

Each county currently, as required by law, has General Assistance Policies and these include the 

degree of "kinship" that will be examined for resources before the county will assume financial 

responsibility. By expanding and specifying the long list of responsible parties in subsection 1, 

the language on line 1 of page 7 suggests that the resources of the entire list must be examined 

prior to determining indigency. We don't believe that was the intent, and ask the Committee to 

clarify this by restoring the authority of the county GA Policy in this determination. 

To do this, we are requesting the following amendment, and with that amendment our 

association is comfortable with passage of the bill. 

PROPOSED AMENDMENT FOR ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL No. 1294 

Page 7, line 1, after "subsection 1" insert: "and identified for financial responsibility within the 

county's general assistance policy" 

Renumber accordin gly 



PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED HOUSE BILL NO. 1294 

Page 7, line 1, after "1" insert "and identified for financial responsibility within the 
county's general assistance policy" 

Renumber accordingly 


